In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

JEFFREY MICHAEL MORAN,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S215914

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAY 23 2014

Sixth Appellate District, Case No.
Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case No.
The Honorable Ron Del Pozzo, Judge

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUE PRESENTED

May a court, as a condition of probation for theft from one store of a retail chain, bar the probationer from entering any of the chain's stores in California, or is the order unconstitutionally overbroad in violation of the defendant's right to travel?

INTRODUCTION

A probation condition prohibits appellant Jeffrey Moran, a convicted burglar, from entering the California properties of Home Depot, the retail chain that he burglarized. The Sixth District Court of Appeal struck the condition as an overbroad infringement on his right to travel.

However, the doctrine of facial overbreadth protects First Amendment rights like freedom of speech and association. This court's probation jurisprudence reflects such analysis is limited to that context.

Appellant's probation condition does not impact the constitutional right to travel. Stay-away orders by their nature are contact restrictive, and any impingement on travel from such orders are incidental to the objective of protecting the victim of or witnesses to the crime. This condition lacks the attributes of a restriction on movement inviting heightened scrutiny. It does not impose a curfew or house arrest. Nor does it render appellant ineligible from seeking or benefiting from government services.

The terms of the condition are reasonably related to appellant's crime and to the prevention of future criminality. In this regard, the Court of Appeal erred in concluding that the corporate entity from which appellant stole cannot be deemed a victim entitled to protection under such a probation condition. Even if the condition is evaluated for overbreadth, the probation condition should be upheld, because the restriction not to enter the victim's property is narrowly tailored based on appellant's crime.

STATEMENT

On October 19, 2012, appellant Moran entered a Home Depot store located at 2181 Monterey Highway in San Jose. (Aug. CT 11.) Asset Protection Specialist Tom Nguyen observed appellant conceal merchandise with a value of \$128.46 in his backpack. (*Ibid.*) Subsequently, appellant passed all points of sale and exited the store without paying for the merchandise. (*Ibid.*) Nguyen stopped appellant and recovered the items. (*Ibid.*) Appellant told Nguyen that he was sent into Home Depot to steal items in exchange for money, and that he had hoped to received half the value of the merchandise he stole. (*Ibid.*)

The Santa Clara County District Attorney charged appellant with second degree burglary. (Pen. Code, §§ 459, 460, subd. (b); CT 2.) In a negotiated disposition, appellant pleaded no contest to commercial burglary and admitted a prior conviction. (CT 7; RT 3, 4-16, 17-18.)

The trial court suspended imposition of sentence and placed appellant on probation for three years. (CT 8, 12.) The court imposed a probation condition requiring appellant not to enter "the premises, parking lot adjacent or any store of Home Depot in the State of California." (CT 12; RT 24-25.) Appellant did not object to the condition. (RT 24-25.)

In the Sixth District Court of Appeal, appellant contended the probation condition unconstitutionally restricted his constitutional right to travel. (Typed opn. at pp. 2-3.) Relying on *In re Sheena K.* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 875, 878-879, 888-889, the Court of Appeal agreed. The appellate court evaluated the claim as one of constitutional facial overbreadth requiring no objection in the trial court, because the alleged defect was capable of correction without reference to the sentencing record in the trial court. (Typed opn. at p. 3.)

On the merits, the Court of Appeal found that while it is "quite apparent that the purpose of the probation condition at issue here is to

prevent appellant from entering Home Depot stores and taking merchandise without paying for it," the condition lacks the close tailoring constitutionally needed for that purpose to avoid overbreadth. (Typed opn. at p. 4.) In an apparent critique of the condition's efficacy, the court said that the condition would have only "minimal effect appellant's rehabilitation as he could simply decide to take merchandise from an endless list of other stores." (*Ibid.*) The court added, "although [the restriction] might relate to avoiding recurrences of appellant's criminal conduct in Home Deport stores, it does not prevent him from engaging in his criminal conduct elsewhere." (*Ibid.*)

The court observed further that "stay away" orders generally are imposed because they "relate to the nature or cause" of the crime like gang or drug activity, or "to the class of persons who would be a source of temptation to the probationer such as gang members and drug users," or they "are imposed to protect actual victims of the probationer's crime." (Typed opn. at pp. 4-5.) Categorically distinguishing the order requiring appellant to stay away from Home Depot stores and parking lots, the appellate court observed that those "stores . . . belong to a business corporation, not a person or class of persons related to the probationer's crime." (*Id.* at p. 5.) The court also found the condition was so broad that it "prevented activities unrelated to criminal activity," by reading that condition as "effectively . . . prohibit[ing] appellant from entering any store that shares a parking lot with a Home Depot." (*Ibid.*, fn. omitted.)

Though finding "an obvious nexus" between appellant's crime and the condition as it relates to the Home Depot store that was the locus of the crime, the court also concluded that the stay-away order "should contain an exception that would allow appellant to be on Home Depot property on legitimate business for the condition to pass constitutional muster." (*Id.* at pp. 5-6.) The court added, in footnote dictum, that "[f]rankly" it believed

"a much better way to achieve what seems to be the purpose of the probation condition" is the express or implicit condition of every grant of probation that the defendant "refrain from engaging in criminal practices, i.e., obey all laws." (*Id.* at p. 6, fn. 5.) The court did not remand for reformation of the condition in the manner it suggested. Instead, it struck the condition requiring appellant not to enter the premises or adjacent parking lot of any Home Depot store in California and, as modified, affirmed the judgment. (*Id.* at p. 6.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeal erred in evaluating the probation condition for facial overbreadth. Only probation conditions impinging on First Amendment rights, such as freedom of speech or freedom of association, are subject to the higher level of overbreadth scrutiny identified in *In re Sheena K.*, supra, 40 Cal.4th 875. Probation conditions restricting other constitutional rights are evaluated for reasonableness, pursuant to *People v. Lent* (1975) 15 Cal.3d 481 (*Lent*).

In any event, the stay-away condition does not impermissibly impinge the constitutional right to travel. The condition precludes appellant's physical presence on his corporate victim's properties. In the same way, a stay-away condition could order a burglar not to be on any real property of an individual victim during the term of probation. It is highly questionable that the validity of a stay-away order can depend upon mere fortuities of property ownership, e.g., whether a retail outlet owner holds ownership of the burgled premises individually rather than through a corporation; whether the premises are the corporation's sole asset or, instead, one among other outlets; or whether the premises are part of a closely- or publicly-held corporate entity.

Avoidance of Home Depot property during the term of probation does not unconstitutionally deprive appellant of the right to travel. The

condition contains none of the attributes of a banishment order. For example, it does not require appellant to implement broad-based geographical or temporal restrictions on his day-to-day movements or to alter his residence. It does not exile him beyond any court's jurisdictional boundary. It does not exclude him from the geographical limits of any governmental subdivisions like cities or counties. Nor does it preclude him from accessing government agencies or services. It does not even limit his transit into or between neighborhoods or streets. A no-physical-contact-with-the-victim condition of probation does not unconstitutionally burden the right to travel.

Even if evaluated for overbreadth, the condition should be upheld. The probation restriction in this case does not irrationally preclude efforts to rehabilitate and to avoid further criminality. Restrictions on the probationer's general movement might invite scrutiny under *Lent* if a nophysical-contact condition absolutely precluded such rehabilitative efforts. For example, a home-arrest condition, as applied, might be shown to preclude the probationer from earning a living except through crime.

This condition has no such effect. Indeed, it facially has only a slight incidental impact on appellant's legitimate contacts even with Home Depot itself. Appellant can shop for or purchase any product or service that Home Depot makes available by mail, phone, or online sales, so long as he does not take delivery of goods himself by physically entering its stores or parking lots. The condition is reasonably related both to appellant's crime and to the prevention of future criminality and is closely tailored to those legitimate purposes based on the identity of the crime victim.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN EVALUATING THE PROBATION CONDITION FOR CONSTITUTIONAL OVERBREADTH AS ONLY PROBATION CONDITIONS THAT LIMIT FIRST AMENDMENT RIGHTS MUST BE NARROWLY TAILORED

The Court of Appeal, under the authority of *In re Sheena K.*, *supra*, 40 Cal.4th at page 890, concluded that the restriction on appellant against entry of Home Depot stores and parking lots is a facially overbroad infringement on his right to travel while on probation. But *Sheena K.* does not support the application of overbreadth analysis and its narrow-tailoring requirement to the probation condition in this case. That analysis is reserved for the very few conditions of release that actually impinge on First Amendment rights retained by a probationer despite his criminal conviction.

A. Only Conditions Limiting First Amendment Rights Must Be Narrowly Tailored to Avoid Overbreadth

In re Sheena K. involved a probation condition that limited a juvenile probationer's freedom of association. (In re Sheena K., supra, 40 Cal.4th at p. 878.) Specifically, the condition provided that the juvenile "not associate with anyone disapproved of by probation." (Ibid.)

As the condition restricted a First Amendment right of association that the juvenile would otherwise retain during the term of probation, this court entertained her facial challenge, holding that the claim was not subject to forfeiture for failure to object. (*Id.* at p. 889.) Because the condition did not require the minor to receive advance notification of the individuals with whom association was forbidden, the Court found the restriction on First Amendment rights vague and overbroad. (*Id.* at pp. 891-892.) Although the decision mentions "constitutional rights" generally, the only claim raised by the juvenile and decided by this court related to the minor's

associational right, and significantly, the court relied on First Amendment precedent in reaching its conclusion. (*Id.* at pp. 891-892 [citing *People ex rel. Gallo v. Acuna* (1997) 14 Cal.4th 1090, 1117-1118; *People v. Lopez* (1988) 66 Cal.App.4th 615, 629].)

As reflected by *Sheena K.*, the First Amendment plays a unique role in the functioning of our democratic government. (See *New York Times Co. v. Sullivan* (1964) 376 U.S. 254, 269-270.) The protections that amendment provides to expression have been characterized as "the Constitution's most majestic guarantee," that are "essential to intelligent self-government in a democratic system." (Tribe, American Constitutional Law (2d ed. 1988) § 12–1, at pp. 785-86.) "The constitutional right of free expression is powerful medicine in a society as diverse and populous as ours." (*Cohen v. California* (1971) 403 U.S. 15, 24.)

Because First Amendment rights are crucial in the functioning of our democracy, laws which touch on those rights may not be overly broad and must not sweep in a substantial amount of constitutionally protected conduct. (*Broadrick v. Oklahoma* (1973) 413 U.S. 601, 612-615; *N.A.A.C.P. v. Button* (1963) 371 U.S. 415, 432-433 ["Because First Amendment freedoms need breathing space to survive, government may regulate in the area only with narrow specificity"].)

This constitutional concern with the "breathing space" needed for free expression and associational rights to secure the liberty of the people explains the significant difference in treatment accorded by courts to a claimed infringement of the First Amendment as opposed to other constitutional rights. (See *Broadrick v. Oklahoma, supra*, 413 U.S. at pp. 612-613.) Under traditional rules of constitutional adjudication, "a person to whom a statute may constitutionally be applied will not be heard to challenge that statute on the ground that it may conceivably be applied unconstitutionally to others, in other situations not before the Court."

(Broadrick, supra, 413 U.S. at p. 610.) These traditional rules on standing have been relaxed when the claim of statutory overbreadth is alleged to impinge upon the First Amendment. (Id., at p. 612.) For example, claims of facial overbreadth have been considered in cases involving statutes which seek to regulate "only spoken words." (Ibid.) Thus, courts have heard First Amendment claims of overbreadth not necessarily applicable to the conduct of the party who brings the claim. (United States v. Raines (1960) 362 U.S. 17, 22-23.)

The [First Amendment overbreadth] doctrine is predicated on the sensitive nature of protected expression: "persons whose expression is constitutionally protected may well refrain from exercising their rights for fear of criminal sanctions by a statute susceptible of application to protected expression." [Citations.] It is for this reason that we have allowed persons to attack overly broad statutes even though the conduct of the person making the attack is clearly unprotected and could be proscribed by a law drawn with the requisite specificity. [Citations.]

The scope of the First Amendment overbreadth doctrine, like most exceptions to established principles, must be carefully tied to the circumstances in which facial invalidation of a statute is truly warranted. Because of the wide-reaching effects of striking down a statute on its face at the request of one whose own conduct may be punished despite the First Amendment, we have recognized that the overbreadth doctrine is "strong medicine" and have employed it with hesitation, and then "only as a last resort."

(New York v. Ferber (1982) 458 U.S. 747, 767-769, quoting Broadrick, supra, 413 U.S. at p. 612.)

As the Supreme Court emphasized in *Broadrick*, "the plain import of our cases is, at the very least, that facial overbreadth adjudication is an exception to our traditional rules of practice and that its function [under the First Amendment], a limited one at the outset, attenuates as the otherwise unprotected behavior that it forbids the State to sanction moves from 'pure speech' toward conduct" (413 U.S. at p. 615.)

An overbreadth claim asks a court to speculate as to the deterrent impact on hypothetical conduct significantly different from that involved in the case to determine whether or not the challenged restriction would cause persons who might wish to engage in otherwise constitutionally protected activity to refrain from speech or association for fear of prosecution. Overbreadth analysis does not work where the restriction has no impact on First Amendment rights.

B. Conditions Affecting Constitutional Rights Apart from the First Amendment are Tested for Reasonableness

In *Tobe v. City of Santa Ana* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 1069, plaintiffs argued that a city ordinance targeting vagrancy was an overbroad infringement on the constitutional right to travel. While the court ultimately declined to decide the applicability of overbreadth analysis to that claim, it noted United States Supreme Court decisions suggesting that criminal statutes cannot be attacked for overbreadth outside of the First Amendment context. (*Id.* at pp. 1095-1096, fn. 15.)

Similarly, in *People v. Rubalcava* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 322, 323, this court rejected an overbreadth challenge to a criminal statute, while openly questioning the doctrine's general applicability beyond First Amendment claims. (*Ibid.* ["Second, *Rubalcava*'s overbreadth challenge fails, even assuming arguendo that the overbreadth doctrine applies outside the First Amendment context"].)

Sheena K. teaches that a probation condition's vagueness and lack of notice may present an unacceptable risk of chilling First Amendment association rights. The constitutionally significant harm of the condition in Sheena K. making overbreadth analysis relevant was that not just defendant, but also friends or associates, could and probably would curtail an indefinite amount of constructive contact, much of it perhaps pure speech with full First Amendment protection, in order to avoid

compromising the minor and placing her in jeopardy of violating her probation in unpredictable ways and settings. The individuals so deterred presumably could include persons whose foregone contacts with the minor could have been instrumental in ensuring that she did not reoffend during her term of probation. *Sheena K.* makes sense as a First Amendment overbreadth case, particularly with regard to third persons who might have associated appropriately and constructively with the probationer in the exercise of their own rights but, who would be arbitrarily deterred from doing so by the vagueness of the probation restriction. That case does not vindicate at all the proposition that no-victim-contact or even actual "banishment" conditions are subject to "overbreadth" analysis, let alone that such conditions fail absent narrow tailoring to the least possible restraint on the general constitutional liberties of the probationer apart from the First Amendment.

The contrary reading of *Sheena K*. adopted by the Court of Appeal runs afoul of this court's probation jurisprudence. This court affirms that probation conditions broadly permitting warrantless searches do not run afoul of the Fourth Amendment, and it does so without analyzing the scope of the searches allowed by the condition for constitutional overbreadth. (*People v. Mason* (1971) 5 Cal.3d 759, 764, disapproved on other grounds by *People v. Lent, supra*, 15 Cal.3d at p. 486, fn. 1.) Instead, this court reviews the probation search conditions for reasonableness under state law. *Mason* found "beyond dispute" that a broad search condition validly related to the probationer's past criminal conduct and was appropriately aimed at deterring future offenses. Therefore, the search condition in *Mason* was found valid under Penal Code section 1203.1. (*Id.* at p. 764.) Notably, this court rejected the rule advocated by the dissent, which would have required all conditions touching on constitutional rights to be narrowly tailored. (Compare *ibid.* with *id.* at pp. 766-768 (dis. opn. of Peters, J.).)

More recently, in *People v. Olguin* (2008) 45 Cal.4th 375, 383-384, this court rejected a probationer's claim that a condition requiring him to notify the probation officer if he possessed any pets was constitutionally overbroad and had to be narrowly tailored to avoid interfering with his Fourteenth Amendment right to own property. The court rejected defendant's attempt to "constitutionalize" a right to pets, and instead evaluated the condition for reasonableness. The court observed that the cases requiring narrow tailoring of probation conditions, cited by defendant, related to conditions which limited freedom of speech and association, as protected by the First Amendment. (*Id.* at p. 384.)

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