IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

| PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, |) |
|------------------------------------|------------------|
| Plaintiff and Respondent, |) No. S215914 |
| v. |) |
| JEFFREY MICHAEL MORAN, |) |
| Defendant and Appellant. |) |
| |) |

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Sixth Appellate District No. H039330 Santa Clara County Superior Court No. C1243366 Honorable Ron M. Del Pozzo, Judge

> JOSHUA H. SCHRAER Attorney at Law 5173 Waring Road, #247 San Diego, California 92120 Telephone: (619) 206-2892 Email: jhschraer@gmail.com State Bar Number 285823

Attorney for Appellant

SUPREME COURT
FILED

SEP - 8 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

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

For purposes of analysis, the probation condition in appellant's case can be divided into three components of different breadth. The first and narrowest component bars appellant from the specific Home Depot store where the theft occurred. The second bars appellant from all other 231 Home Depot stores in California. The third and broadest bars appellant from the parking lots adjacent to all Home Depot stores in California. Applying the above-stated principles, all three components of the probation condition were unconstitutionally overbroad in violation of appellant's right to travel.

The Court of Appeal described as follows the purpose of the probation condition here in issue: "It is quite apparent that the purpose of the probation condition at issue here is to prevent appellant from entering Home Depot stores and taking merchandise without paying for it." (Slip opn., p. 4.) The condition, however, is not closely tailored to that purpose and sweeps within its ambit other activities that ordinarily constitute an exercise of protected conduct.

This is not a case like *People v. Petty*, supra, 213 Cal.App.4th 1410, where the defendant had a long history of mental health issues and where the victim of the crime was an individual whom the defendant knew, whom the defendant kept visiting after the crime, who might have felt violated by his unannounced visits, and who might worry that the defendant will steal from her again. Instead, this case involves a shoplifting from a large retail outlet that is part of a large corporation and that has a large number of employees at each store. Nor does such shoplifting involve targeting a specific and vulnerable victim. Instead, one would respect that a recidivist shoplifter might commit the crime at any one of dozens of large stores. All these stores are fungible locations for the crime of shoplifting. As the Court of Appeal noted in its opinion: "Keeping appellant out of all Home Depot stores will have minimal effect on appellant's rehabilitation as he could simply decide to take merchandise from an endless list of other stores. Thus, although it might relate to avoiding recurrences of appellant's criminal conduct in Home Depot stores, it does not prevent him from engaging in his criminal conduct elsewhere. Thus, it is not closely tailored to appellant's rehabilitation." (Slip opn., p. 4.)

Even more troubling is the portion of the probation condition that prevents appellant from being in a parking lot of a Home Depot store. This prohibition precludes appellant from shopping at a large number of establishments since the entrances of such stores face the parking lot.⁵ For example, the condition prohibits appellant from shopping at a supermarket that shares a parking lot with a Home Depot, and from banking at a bank that shares a parking lot with a Home Depot. It also prohibits appellant from seeking employment at these stores or from taking a shortcut by driving through their parking lot. The probation condition thus sweeps within its ambit activities that in ordinary circumstances constitute an exercise of protected conduct and does not closely tailor the limitations on the right to travel to the purpose of the travel limitation. There is no legitimate reason to prohibit appellant from banking and shopping at convenient locations or from seeking employment there.

An analysis of the stores that share a parking lot with the Home Depot where the offense occurred in this case highlights the overbreadth of the probation condition. That Home Depot is located in a large parking lot called "The Plant," which consists of a total of 59 stores other than Home Depot. These stores include a credit union, a bank, a T-Mobile store, a Target, a Ross, an Office Max, a Kinko's, a PetSmart, a Toys "R" Us, 16 restaurants, an optometrist, and two dental offices. Under the probation condition the Court of Appeal struck down, if appellant's closest bank or credit union branch was this location, and he did not have access to a car, this would substantially hamper his right to travel. Moreover, the condition would preclude appellant

⁵Of the 232 Home Depots in California, 14 are within 20 miles of appellant's zip code of 95113. See http://www.homedepot.com/StoreFinder/, based on search for zip code 95113.

⁶<u>http://www.theplantsanjose.com/directory/.</u> This link also provides a useful visual of the parking lot and each store's location within the parking lot.

from seeking gainful employment in any of these stores.

This Home Depot parking lot alone illustrates the overbreadth of the probation condition. But even more telling is that fact that it is but one of the 232 parking lots the probation condition covers. This indicates that appellant is barred from thousands of stores providing a wide range of commercial products and personal services.

In addition to being unconstitutionally overbroad, the "parking lot" component of the probation condition is unreasonable under California law.

A hypothetical shows one reason why. Assume there is a large parking lot with a Home Depot at one corner and a grocery store at the opposite corner, 300 yards away. Assume further that there is a second grocery store across the street, 50 feet from the Home Depot, but not contiguous to the Home Depot's parking lot. Under the probation condition, appellant could buy coffee at the second grocery store but not at the first, even though the second is 850 feet closer to the Home Deport.

Indeed, the part of the probation condition barring appellant from Home Depot stores and their parking lots in California is unreasonable. As a resident of Santa Clara County, appellant lives roughly 500 miles from San Diego and is barred from being in a Home Depot and it parking lot there. But appellant is less than half that distance from a Home Depot in Reno, but can be in a Home Depot and its parking lot there.

Even the narrowest aspect of the probation condition – the prohibition against appellant entering the Home Depot where he shoplifted – is both overbroad and unreasonable. That aspect is the prohibition against appellant entering the Home Depot where he shoplifted. As noted above, the theft occurred in a large retail store – it did not involve a violation of someone's home or person. (See slip opn., at p. 5, noting that the condition requires

appellant to stay away from stores "that belong to a business corporation, not a person or class of persons related to the probationer's crime.") There is nothing in the record indicating any likelihood that appellant will commit another crime at the same Home Depot. If there were any chance that appellant might shoplift again, it is probably less likely he would do so at the store where he had already been caught shoplifting.

But more important for purposes of an analysis of overbreadth is the fact that although a defendant would not have any legitimate reason for visiting the home of a private person he burgled, a defendant would have legitimate reasons for shopping at a store like the Home Depot where the shoplifting occurred. Appellant might need a large piece of wood to temporarily put over a broken window in his home. He might need tools to deal with a water leak. As the Court of Appeal noted below when discussing the probation condition as it relates to the Home Depot where appellant committed the shoplifting, "we believe that the condition should contain an exception that would allow appellant to be on Home Depot property on legitimate business for the condition to pass constitutional muster." (Slip opn., at pp. 5-6.)

Even more significantly, the challenged probation condition adds nothing of practical significance to the standard probation condition that appellant "obey all laws." This is not a case in which the victim of the crime was a private individual who knew appellant, or the proprietor of a small business who would recognize appellant and suffer anxiety or fear if he reentered the store. Home Depot stores are huge.⁷ Hundreds, perhaps thousands

⁷The average Home Depot is 105,000 square feet with approximately 23,000 additional square feet of outside garden area. https://corporate.homedepot.com/OurCompany/StoreProdServices/Pages/d

of customers enter each store each day, and dozens, perhaps hundreds of employees work at each store. There is no reason to conclude that anyone at the store would recognize appellant if he entered the store, and the only way appellant would come to anyone's attention would be to shoplift. There are no employees at the door who screen customers to make sure they are not subject to a probation condition prohibiting them from shopping at Home Depot.

The probation condition in this case is unlawful under the less stringent test described in *Lent* that applies to all probation conditions under California law, because the challenged condition bears no reasonable relationship to fostering rehabilitation and preventing future criminality. In this context, "a reasonable condition of probation is not only fit and appropriate to the end in view but it must be a reasonable means to that end. Reasonable means are moderate, not excessive, not extreme, not demanding too much, well-balanced." (*People v. Keller, supra*, 76 Cal.App.3d at p. 840.)

As to the first *Lent* element, the condition has no relationship to the crime for which appellant was convicted because there is no evidence that appellant targeted Home Depot rather than simply stealing from a large retail store. As to the second *Lent* element, the condition relates to conduct which is not in itself criminal, namely entering a Home Depot or a parking lot adjacent to a Home Depot. And as to the third *Lent* element, the condition forbids conduct which is not reasonably related to future criminality, namely entering a Home Depot or a parking lot adjacent to a Home Depot.

More importantly, the probation condition is unconstitutional. The condition prohibits appellant from entering all 232 Home Depot Stores in

efault.aspx. This means that a single Home Depot is more than twice the size of a football field.

California, from entering the parking lots adjacent to those stores, and from entering all stores that share those parking lots with Home Depot. This is a broad restriction on the right to travel. Strictly scrutinizing the probation condition, it is clear that all three components of that condition are overbroad and not closely tailored to the purpose of preventing appellant from committing future shopliftings at Home Depot, and are not the least restrictive means to achieve that end.

F. Responses to Legally and Factually Erroneous Assertions in the Attorney General's Brief

Respondent has file an opening brief on the merits (RBOM) arguing that the probation condition in this case is not overbroad. Although appellant has shown that the condition is overbroad, he wishes to respond squarely to some of the Attorney General's assertions to explain why they are legally and factually erroneous.

1. Respondent's Discussion of the Overbreadth Doctrine Is Unsound

Preliminarily, there is a fundamental flaw in respondent's brief concerning the nature of the constitutional issue of overbreadth that is before the Court. Respondent repeatedly and incorrectly says that appellant has argued, and the Court of Appeal has found, that the probation condition here in issue is "facially" overbroad. Based on this mistake, respondent argues that the Court of Appeal erred because facial overbreadth applies only to probation conditions that violate a right that is expressly listed in the First Amendment, such as freedom of speech or association, and does not apply to the right to travel. (RBOM 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, 17.) Respondent's argument fails to appreciate that there are two sorts of overbreadth doctrines. Appellant will call them facial overbreadth and ordinary overbreadth. As appellant will explain, facial

overbreadth, which applies to First Amendment infringements, is a very narrow exception to the general federal rule that only a party whose legal rights are directly affected has standing to bring a claim in federal court. It allows a litigant to challenge a statute as written, rather than as applied to the litigant, because the statute, by its very existence, has a chilling effect on the free exercise of an enumerated First Amendment right such as freedom of speech. In contrast to facial overbreadth, ordinary overbreadth applies more broadly to all infringements on fundamental constitutional rights, including the right to travel among many others. It challenges a state action as that action applies to the litigant making the challenge. This case involves an ordinary overbreadth challenge, and an "as applied" challenge, not a facial overbreadth one.

Before discussing authorities which explain the difference between the two types of overbreadth, appellant wishes to point out that the Court of Appeal never uses the words "facial" or "facially" in its opinion and does not hold that the probation condition is facially overbroad. Instead, it simply holds the condition is overbroad. (Slip opn., at pp. 1, 2, 3.) And in the opening brief he filed in the Court of Appeal, appellant did not argue that the probation condition was facially overbroad. The word facial does appear once at AOB 8, but only in a quotation from a portion of this Court's opinion in *Sheena K.*, *supra*, describing the nature of the contention the defendant made in that case.

Broadrick v. Oklahoma (1973) 413 U.S. 601 describes the distinction between the two types of overbreadth. It explains that facial overbreadth is a narrow principle of constitutional law that only arises in the context of facial challenges to statutes as violating the First Amendment, and is often related to a narrow exception to the general standing requirement in federal court. The usual rule of constitutional adjudication is that a person cannot challenge a

statute on the ground that it may conceivably be applied in an unconstitutional manner to people who are not parties to the suit. (*Id.* at p. 610.) The doctrine of facial overbreadth allows a litigant to challenge a statute on the ground that it may be unconstitutionally applied in situations that are not actually before the court. (*Id.* at pp. 610-611.) Facial overbreadth applies to First Amendment issues. (*Id.* at p. 611.) It applies where a statute's overbreadth is not only real, but also is substantial when judged in relation to the statute's plainly legitimate sweep. (*Id.* at p. 615.) As the Supreme Court explained in *Broadrick*, the doctrine allows litigants "to challenge a statute not because their own rights of free expression are violated, but because of a judicial prediction or assumption that the statute's very existence may cause others not before the court to refrain from constitutionally protected speech or expression." (*Id.* at p. 612.)

Broadrick explains that facial overbreadth results in a statute being held void on its face. (Broadrick v. Oklahoma, supra, 413 U.S. at p. 615.) It is an exception to the traditional requirement that the litigant show that the statute affects him. In the ordinary situation, courts find overbreadth on a case-by-case analysis and basis. (Id. at pp. 615-616.)

In this case, we are not concerned with a statute that broadly applies to a large group of citizens. Appellant has not brought a facial challenge to a statute as violating the First Amendment. Instead, we deal with a probation condition that applies to appellant alone. Appellant has not argued that the probation condition should be stricken to protect the rights of third parties who are not litigants in this lawsuit. Instead, he argues that a probation condition imposed upon him should be stricken because it violates *his* rights. This case does not involve an infringement of a right expressly listed in the First Amendment, but, as explained above, it involves an infringement of a fundamental right that is based, in part, on the rights listed in the First

Amendment and necessary to the full enjoyment of that right. We are not only entitled to freedom of speech or assembly in our homes, we are entitled to enjoy those rights in the same locations as all other citizens. Even if we were to view the right to travel as having nothing to do with the First Amendment, it is still a fundamental constitutional right. Under established case law which appellant has already discussed, any limitations on the right to travel – like limitations on the right to employment in *People v. Burden, supra*, 205 Cal.App.3d 1277, on the right to conception in *People v. Pointer, supra*, 151 Cal.App.3d 1128 and *People v. Zaring, supra*, 8 Cal.App.4th 362, and on the right to marry in *People v. Moses, supra*, 199 Cal.App.4th 374 – must be strictly scrutinized and closely tailored in order to avoid being unconstitutionally overbroad.

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